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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

BROWNSVILLE DIVISION 

ADELA VILLARREAL, individually and on 

behalf of those similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

CLIENT SERVICES, INC., a Missouri 

Corporation, 

Defendant. 

§

§

§

§

§

§

§

§

§

§

§ 

Civil Action No.: 1:18-cv-00093 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT 

COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT AND THE TEXAS DEBT COLLECTION ACT 

AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

Plaintiff, ADELA VILLARREAL, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, by way of Complaint against Defendant, CLIENT SERVICES, INC. (“CLIENT 

SERVICES”), says: 

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION 

 Plaintiff, on her own behalf and on behalf of the class she seeks to represent, and 

demanding a trial by jury, brings this action for the illegal practices of Defendant who used 

unfair, unconscionable, false, deceptive, and misleading practices, and other illegal practices, in 

connection with its attempts to collect alleged debts from the Plaintiff and others. Plaintiff 

alleges Defendant’s collection practices violate the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 

15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq. and Texas Debt Collection Act (TDCA), Tex. Fin. Code § 392, et seq. 

 The FDCPA regulates the behavior of collection agencies attempting to collect a 

debt on behalf of another. The United States Congress found abundant evidence of the use of 

abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by many debt collectors, and has 
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determined that abusive debt collection practices contribute to a number of personal 

bankruptcies, marital instability, loss of jobs, and invasions of individual privacy. Congress 

enacted the FDCPA to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to ensure 

that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

competitively disadvantaged, and to promote uniform State action to protect consumers against 

debt collection abuses. 15 U.S.C. § 1692(a) - (e).  

 The FDCPA is a strict liability statute, which provides for actual or statutory 

damages upon the showing of one violation. In reviewing an FDCPA complaint, courts “must 

evaluate any potential deception in the letter under an unsophisticated or least sophisticated 

consumer standard, assuming that the plaintiff-debtor is neither shrewd nor experienced in 

dealing with creditors.” McMurray v. ProCollect, Inc., 687 F.3d 665 (5th Cir. 2012). 

 To prohibit deceptive practices, the FDCPA, at 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, outlaws the 

use of false, deceptive, and misleading collection practices and names a non-exhaustive list of 

certain per se violations of false and deceptive collection conduct. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(1)-(16). 

Among the per se violations prohibited by that section are: making a false representation of the 

character, amount, or legal status of any debt, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A); and, using any false 

representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain 

information concerning a consumer, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10). 

 Furthermore, the FDCPA, at 15 U.S.C. § 1692g, requires that certain information 

as to the validation of a debt be provided in a collection letter. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)-(e). Among 

the per se violations prohibited by that section are: failing to provide the name of the creditor to 

whom the debt is owed, 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(2). 

 The TDCA, like the FDCPA, prohibits debt collectors from using deceptive, 

coercive, threatening, abusive, and other repugnant practices for the purpose of collecting a 
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consumer debt. Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann § 17.50; Cushman v. GC Services, L.P., 397 Fed. 

Appx. 24 (5th Cir. 2010) (discussing the “tie-in” provision between the TDCA and deceptive 

practices Acts). 

 The Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, seeks statutory 

damages, injunctive relief, attorney fees, costs, and all other relief, equitable or legal in nature, as 

deemed appropriate by this Court, pursuant to the FDCPA, TDCA, and all other common law or 

statutory regimes.  

 This case involves an obligation, or an alleged obligation, primarily for personal, 

family, or household purposes, and arising from a transaction or alleged transaction. As such, 

this action arises out of “consumer debt” as that term is defined by Tex. Fin. Code § 392.001(2). 

II. PARTIES 

 Plaintiff is a natural person. 

 At all times relevant to the factual allegations of this Complaint, Plaintiff was a 

citizen of, and resided in Cameron County, Texas. 

 At all times relevant to the factual allegations of this Complaint, CLIENT 

SERVICES was a for-profit corporation existing pursuant to the laws of Missouri. 

 On information and belief, CLIENT SERVICES maintains its principal place of 

business at 3451 Harry S. Truman Boulevard, City of St. Charles, St. Charles County, Missouri. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d) and 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331 & 1337 

 Supplemental jurisdiction for Plaintiff’s state law claims arises under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1367. 

 Venue is appropriate in this federal district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because 
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the events giving rise to the claims occurred within this federal judicial district, and because the 

Defendant regularly transacts business within this federal judicial district and, therefore, resides 

in the State of Texas within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c). 

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 CLIENT SERVICES is regularly engaged in the collection of debts. 

 CLIENT SERVICES regularly collects or attempts to collect debts alleged to be 

owed others. 

 CLIENT SERVICES is a business whose principal purpose is the collection of 

debts. 

 In attempting to collect debts, CLIENT SERVICES uses the mails, telephone, 

internet, and other instruments of interstate commerce. 

 CLIENT SERVICES mailed Plaintiff a letter (“LETTER”) dated September 6, 

2017. 

 A true and correct copy of the LETTER is attached as Exhibit A, except that the 

undersigned counsel has, in accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 5.2, partially redacted the financial 

account numbers and Plaintiff’s home address to protect Plaintiff’s privacy. 

 On information and belief, the LETTER was created by merging information 

specific to a debt with a template to create what is commonly called a “form letter.” 

 Consequently, on information and belief, CLIENT SERVICES mailed the same 

form letter to others like Plaintiff using a Texas address in an attempt to collect a debt. 

 Based on information in the LETTER, CLIENT SERVICES has asserted Plaintiff 

is obligated to pay money (“Debt”).  

 CLIENT SERVICES asserts that the Debt arises from one or more transactions 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 
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 The Debt was in default and charged-off by the creditor at the time CLIENT 

SERVICES mailed the LETTER. 

 Creditors charge-off defaulted debts in accordance with federal regulations that 

require the creditor to remove the debt from their financial statements as assets. See Victoria J. 

Haneman, The Ethical Exploitation of the Unrepresented Consumer, 73 Mo. L. Rev. 707, 713-14 

(2008) (“a credit card account is characterized as a ‘charge-off’ account (or worthless account for 

taxable purposes) when no payment has been received for 180 days.”). These charged-off 

accounts are treated as a loss and the creditor receives a tax deduction under the Internal 

Revenue Code. 

 Creditors often sell their charged-off accounts to third-party debt buyers who 

purchase large portfolios of defaulted consumer debts and then hire debt collection companies, 

such as CLIENT SERVICES, to collect those debts. 

 Exhibit A is the initial written communication CLIENT SERVICES mailed to 

Plaintiff. 

 At the top left of Exhibit A it reads, “RE: Synchrony Bank Sam’s Club®Personal 

Credit”. 

 In the first paragraph of Exhibit A it simply states, “The above account has been 

assigned to our organization for debt collection.” 

 Exhibit A does not identify the name of the creditor to whom the Debt is owed. 

 Exhibit A does not identify the name of the entity who placed Debt with CLIENT 

SERVICES for collections. 

 Exhibit A does not identify the name of the entity who “assigned” the “account” 

to CLIENT SERVICES “for debt collection.” 
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 “Synchrony Bank Sam’s Club®Personal Credit” is not the name of the creditor to 

whom the Debt is owed. 

 By failing to identify the creditor of the Debt, Exhibit A leaves the 

unsophisticated consumer in doubt about to whom the alleged debt is owed and if it is legitimate. 

 CLIENT SERVICES’s failure to identify the creditor is false, deceptive, and 

misleading and is in violation of the FDCPA and TDCA. 

 Therefore, the LETTER deprived Plaintiff of truthful, non-misleading, 

information in connection with CLIENT SERVICES’s attempt to collect a debt. 

V. POLICIES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF 

 It is Defendant’s policy and practice to mail written collection communications to 

consumers, in the form attached as Exhibit A, which violate the FDCPA and TDCA. 

 The violations alleged in this Complaint did not only occur with respect to 

Plaintiff, but also with respect to all other Texas consumers who received a letter similar to 

Exhibit A. There are at least forty people in this situation, given the fact Defendant collects debts 

through its use of bulk form letters like Exhibit A. 

VI. CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

 Plaintiff brings this action individually and as a class action on behalf of all other 

persons similarly situated pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23. 

 Subject to discovery and further investigation which may cause Plaintiff to 

modify the class definition to be more inclusive or less inclusive, Plaintiff defines the “Class” to 

include: 

Each natural person to whom Client Services, Inc. mailed a letter to 

an address in the State of Texas between June 4, 2017 and June 25, 

2018, in the form of Exhibit A, which lists “RE: Synchrony Bank 

Sam’s Club®Personal Credit” and states “The above account has 

been assigned to our organization for debt collection,” but which 
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does not specify the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed 

or the name of the entity who assigned the account for collection. 

 The Class excludes each person who, prior to the date this action is certified to 

proceed as a class action, either (a) died, (b) obtained a discharge in bankruptcy, (c) commenced 

an action in any court against Defendant alleging a violation of the FDCPA or TDCA based on a 

letter, or (d) signed a general release of claims against CLIENT SERVICES. The Class also 

excludes counsel for Plaintiff, or an employee or family member of counsel for Plaintiff. 

 Based on discovery and further investigation (including, but not limited to, 

disclosure of class size and net worth), Plaintiff may, in addition to moving for class certification 

using modified definitions of the Class and Class Claims, seek class certification only as to 

particular issues as permitted under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(4). 

 The identity of each member of the Class is readily ascertainable from CLIENT 

SERVICES’s records and those records of the entity on whose behalf it sought to collect debts. 

 This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a class action 

pursuant to the provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) because there is a well-defined community 

interest in the litigation in that: 

46.01. Numerosity. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all 

members would be impractical. On information and belief, there are at least 40 

members of the Class. 

46.02. Commonality. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members 

of the Class, the principal issues are: whether the conduct of Defendant, as 

described above under Factual Allegations, was the same or substantially similar 

with respect to the attempts by Defendant to collect debts from Plaintiff and the 

members of the Class; and whether such conduct violated the FDCPA and TDCA. 
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46.03. Typicality. The claims of Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the class 

members. Plaintiff and all members of the Class have claims arising out of the 

common and uniform course of conduct as set forth in the Factual Allegations. 

46.04. Adequacy. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

class members because the interests of Plaintiff are not averse to absent class 

members. Plaintiff is committed to vigorously litigating this matter. Plaintiff 

retained counsel experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, complex legal 

issues, and class actions. 

 This action may be maintained as a “B1a-class”, a “B2-class”, a “B3-class”, or a 

hybrid class however, at the time of commencing this action, certification is expected to be 

sought under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because the questions of law and fact common to members 

of the Class appear to predominate over any questions affecting an individual member, and a 

class action would be superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication 

of the controversy due to individual joinder of all members being impracticable, class action 

treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their common 

claims in a single forum efficiently and without unnecessary duplication of effort and expense 

that individual actions would engender, an important public interest will be served by addressing 

the matter as a class action, substantial expenses to the litigants and to the judicial system will be 

realized, and difficulties are unlikely in the management of a class action. 

VII. COUNT ONE: VIOLATION OF THE FDCPA. 

 The Factual Allegations are incorporated by reference. 

 CLIENT SERVICES is a “debt collector” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692a(6). 

 The Debt is a “debt” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5). 
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 Plaintiff is a “consumer” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3). 

 The LETTER is a “communication” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2). 

 CLIENT SERVICES’s mailing of the LETTER violated the FDCPA including, 

but not limited to, using false, deceptive, and misleading representations or means in connection 

with the collection of any debt in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e including, but not limited to, 

violation of §§ 1692e(2)(A) and 1692e(10) and by failing to identify the name of the creditor to 

whom the debt is owed in violation of § 1692g(a)(2). 

 Defendant’s conduct invaded the rights of Plaintiff which are protected by the 

FDCPA, the invasion of which caused injury-in-fact. 

 Based on a single violation of the FDCPA, Defendant is liable to Plaintiff and, if 

this case is maintained as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, to the Class for such relief as is 

allowed under 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

VIII. COUNT TWO: VIOLATION OF THE TDCA 

 The Factual Allegations are incorporated by reference. 

 CLIENT SERVICES is engaged in the act and/or practice of “debt collection” as 

that term is defined by Tex. Fin. Code § 392.001(5). 

 CLIENT SERVICES is a “debt collector” within the meaning of Tex. Fin. Code 

§ 392.001(5). 

 CLIENT SERVICES is a “third-party debt collector” as that term is defined by 

Tex. Fin. Code § 392.001(7). 

 The Debt is a “consumer debt” as defined by Tex. Fin. Code § 392.001(2). 

 Plaintiff is a “consumer” within the meaning of Tex. Fin. Code § 392.001(1). 

 Defendant violated the TDCA including but not limited to: 

62.01. Tex. Fin. Code § 392.304(a)(1)(B) by using a name other than the name 
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appearing on the face of the credit card while engaged in the collection of a credit 

card debt; 

62.02. Tex. Fin. Code § 392.304(a)(4) by failing to disclose clearly in any 

communication with the debtor the name of the person to whom the debt has been 

assigned or is owed when making a demand for money. 

62.03. Tex. Fin. Code § 392.304(a)(8) by misrepresenting the character or extent 

of a consumer debt; and 

62.04. Tex. Fin. Code § 392.304(a)(19) by using false, deceptive, and misleading 

representations and/or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or 

to obtain information concerning a consumer. 

IX. PRAYER FOR RELIEF. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court enter judgment against 

Defendant, CLIENT SERVICES, INC., as follows: 

A. With respect to Court One: 

63.01. Certifying this action may be maintained as a class action pursuant to 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 including defining the class, defining the class claims, and 

appointing Plaintiff as representative of the Class and her attorneys as class 

counsel; 

63.02. Awarding such actual damages as may be proven to Plaintiff and to the 

members of the Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(1); 

63.03. Awarding statutory damages for Plaintiff pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692k(a)(2)(A) and § 1692k(a)(2)(B)(i); 

63.04. Awarding statutory damages for the Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692k(a)(2)(B)(ii); 
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63.05. An incentive award for Plaintiff, in connection with her services to the 

Class in an amount to be determined by the Court after judgment is entered in 

favor of the Class; 

63.06. Adjudging this action to be a successful action under 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692k(a)(2)(B)(3) and awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees including litigation 

expenses; 

63.07. Awarding costs of suit as allowed by law; and 

63.08. For such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

B. With respect to Count Two: 

63.09. Certifying this action may be maintained as a class action pursuant to 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 including defining the class, defining the class claims, and 

appointing Plaintiff as representative of the Class and her attorneys as class 

counsel; 

63.10. Awarding injunctive relief to prevent or restrain further violations of 

Chapter 392 of the Texas Finance Code pursuant to Tex. Fin. Code 

§ 392.403(a)(1); 

63.11. Awarding such actual damages as may be proven to Plaintiff and members 

of the Class pursuant to Tex. Fin. Code § 392.403(a)(2); 

63.12. An incentive award for Plaintiff, in connection with her services to the 

Class in an amount to be determined by the Court after judgment is entered in 

favor of the Class; 

63.13. Adjudging Plaintiff to have successfully maintained an action under Tex. 

Fin. Code § 392.403(a), and awarding reasonable attorney’s fees and costs 
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pursuant to Tex. Fin. Code § 392.403(b); 

63.14. Awarding costs of suit as allowed by law; and 

63.15. For such other and further relief as may be just and proper. 

X. JURY DEMAND. 

 Demand is hereby made for trial by jury. 

Dated: June 15, 2018              Respectfully submitted, 

   s/ Andrew T. Thomasson 

Andrew T. Thomasson, Attorney-in-Charge 

     NJ Bar No. 048362011; SDTX No. 2347873 

Philip D. Stern 

     NJ Bar No. 045921984; SDTX No. 3063738 
STERN•THOMASSON LLP 

150 Morris Avenue, 2nd Floor 

Springfield, NJ 07081-1315 

Telephone: (973) 379-7500 

Facsimile:  (973) 532-5868 

E-Mail: andrew@sternthomasson.com 

E-Mail: philip@sternthomasson.com 
 

Joseph A. George 

     TX Bar No. 24082319; SDTX No. 3158394 

THE LAW OFFICE OF JOSEPH A. GEORGE, PLLC 

P.O. Box 147 

Olmito, TX 78575-0147 

Telephone: (210) 410-3689 

Facsimile:  (210) 910-6383 
E-Mail: joseph@josephageorge.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff, Adela Villarreal 
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